IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

3RD DCA CASE NO. 07-2418 FSC CASE NO. _____

ANDREA JOHNSON

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA,THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1963

MARTI ROTHENBERG Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 320285

Counsel for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

This is a petition for discretionary review by the petitioner/defendant Andrea Johnson based on conflict jurisdiction from the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal, issued on February 13, 2008. Citations are to the Appendix containing the decision attached hereto.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts relevant to a determination of whether discretionary review is warranted are set forth in the decision of the Third District, as follows:

The defendant was charged with offenses in 2002 and spent time in boot camp in 2002. (A: 2) He was later charged with violating probation. (A: 2) At the probation violation hearing, he agreed in a plea colloquy and in writing to having violated probation specifically in return for a four-year state prison sentence with "all credit for time served from 11/14/05." (A: 2)

The defendant later sought credit for the time he previously spent in boot camp in the case in 2002 on his original charges. (A: 2) The trial judge denied his motion for credit for time served. (A: 2)

On appeal, the defendant argued he was entitled to credit for time served in boot camp and that his agreement to plead guilty to violation of probation in exchange for a four-year prison sentence with all credit for time served from November 14, 2005, was not a waiver of credit for time served in boot camp in 2002. (A: 2) In its decision, the Third District agreed the defendant would normally be entitled to credit for time served in boot camp, but that his plea agreement to credit for all time served from a specific date, specifically November 14, 2005, effectively waived any claim to credit for time served before that date. (A: 1-2) The Third District cited in support its case of <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 954 So.2d 1216 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007), <u>review granted</u>, 968 So.2d 557 (Fla. 2007), and noted conflict with the Fifth District case of <u>Davis v. State</u>, 968 So.2d 1051 (Fla. DCA 2007). (A: 2) The Third District then affirmed the trial court's order denying the defendant's motion for credit for time served in boot camp. (A: 2)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Third District expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 968 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007), on the issue of waiver for credit time served. The Third District held that waiver for credit time served can be shown by a provision in a plea agreement that the defendant is to be awarded credit for time served from a specific date, which effectively waives any claim to credit for time served before that date. In <u>Davis</u>, however, the Fifth District held that such a waiver cannot be shown merely by a defendant's stipulation to a certain amount of credit time served, without evidence the defendant knew of his entitlement to and voluntarily relinquished his right to additional credit before that date.

The Third District's decision also directly conflicts with the decisions of other district courts of appeal on the same issue in factually similar cases. <u>See Silverstein v. State</u>, 654 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); <u>Van Ellis v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); <u>Reed v. State</u>, 810 So.2d 1025 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002).

In addition, the Third District cited as support for its implicit waiver theory a decision currently pending in this Court on the same issue, <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 968 So.2d 557 (Fla. 2007) (Fla.S.Ct. No: SC07-936), granting review of <u>Rivera v.</u> <u>State</u>, 954 So.2d 1216 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007).

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS IN DAVIS v. STATE, 968 So.2d 1051 (FLA. 5th DCA 2007), SILVERSTEIN v. STATE, 654 So.2d 1040 (FLA. 4th DCA 1995), REED v. STATE, 810 So.2d 1025 (FLA. 2d DCA 2002), AND VAN ELLIS v. STATE, 455 So.2d 1065 (FLA. 1st DCA 1984), ON THE ISSUE OF IMPLIED WAIVER OF CREDIT FOR TIME SERVED, AND THIS ISSUE IS PENDING IN THIS COURT IN RIVERA v. STATE, 968 So.2d 557 (FLA. 2007) (FLA.S.CT.NO: SC07-936).

In its decision, the Third District held that waiver for credit time served can be shown by a provision in a plea agreement that the defendant is to be awarded credit for time served from a specific date, and that such a provision effectively waives any claim to credit for time served before that date.

The Third District's implicit waiver theory directly conflicts with the decisions of other district courts of appeal on the same issue in factually similar cases. As the Third District noted in its decision, it is in conflict with the Fifth District in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 968 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007). In <u>Davis</u>, as in the present case, the defendant entered into a plea agreement in which he agreed to credit for time served from a specific date. The plea agreement in <u>Davis</u> states "credit for time served as of 7/31/2006 is 1,531 days," and in the present case, the

agreement states "all credit for time served from 11/14/05." The defendant in <u>Davis</u>, as here, sought additional credit for time served before that date and the trial court denied that credit. The Fifth District, however, reversed and stated that it did "not view this statement in the plea agreement as conclusive evidence that Appellant knowingly and voluntarily waived jail credit to which he would otherwise be legally entitled." The court further held that a waiver could not be shown "merely by a defendant's stipulation to a certain amount of credit, absent evidence that the defendant knew of his entitlement to additional jail credit and voluntarily relinquished that right."

In <u>Silverstein v. State</u>, 654 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), the trial court sentenced the defendant pursuant to a plea agreement on a probation violation to 364 days in jail with 127 days credit for time served, which was the amount of time the defendant served since he was arrested on the current probation violation. Although the defendant's attorney mentioned to the trial court that there was additional time served, the attorney did not object to the sentence as imposed. The Fourth District found that this failure to object was not a sufficient waiver and held: "Where a defendant's waiver of credit for time served on the incarcerative portion of a split sentence is not clearly shown on the record, it will not be presumed." The court reversed and remanded the case to the trial court to award

the defendant credit for time served previously in custody. <u>Accord Reed v. State</u>, 810 So.2d 1025 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) (defendant's sentencing document alone, which states that he will receive 251 days stipulated credit, not a sufficient express and specific waiver of any remaining credit for time served); <u>Van Ellis v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (court declined to find waiver of credit for time served where defendant did not voluntarily and specifically relinquish his right to time served when he did not object to his sentence of a specific length with a specific amount of credit for time served).

The decision of the Third District is in direct conflict with these decisions in holding that an implicit waiver of previous credit for time served is established simply by the agreement to a specified date, without any evidence the defendant was knowingly and voluntarily giving up other jail credit to which he would otherwise be legally entitled. This conflict is already recognized by this Court by its granting of discretionary review in <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 954 So.2d 1216 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007), <u>rev. granted</u>, 968 So.2d 557 (Fla. 2007) (Fla.S.Ct. Case No: SC07-936). <u>Jollie v. State</u>, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981) (district court of appeal decision which cites as controlling authority decision that is pending review in Florida Supreme Court constitutes prima facie express conflict).

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the defendant requests that this Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in this case to resolve the conflict in decisions.