IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-1489 DCA CASE NO. 3D08-1657

BERNARD JOYNER,

Petitioner,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

NIKOLE HICIANO

RICHARD L. POLIN Bureau Chief, Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 0230987

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0844411 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 650 Miami, Florida 33131

(305) 377-5850 (W)

(305) 377-5655 (F)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Bernard Joyner, was the defendant in the trial court and Appellant in the District Court of Appeal, Third District. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal, Third District.

The trial court denied the Petitioner's motion to correct illegal sentence. He appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal. See Joyner v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly D 1844 (Fla. 3d DCA July 23, 2008) ("Joyner"). The following facts are taken from Joyner. In Joyner the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the denial of additional credit for time served finding that a provision in a plea agreement that credit was to have been awarded only for time served from a specific date effectively waived any claim to credit for time served before that date. In 2004, Petitioner entered into a plea agreement and was sentenced to five years probation for the offense of false imprisonment. In 2006, Petitioner was arrested for violation of probation. He entered a plea of admission to the violation and was sentenced to two years incarceration in the Department of Corrections. He received credit time served for seventy-eight days. Subsequently, he filed a motion claiming that he was entitled to 122 additional credit time served.

In denying the motion, the circuit court attached a copy of the plea

agreement. The agreement stated that Joyner understand and agreed that as part of my plea bargain he would be receiving the credit for time served from November 29, 2006, to February 15, 2007. The appellate court held that credit under Florida Statute Section 921.161(1)(2004), could have been waived as part of a plea agreement. The Third District found that as Defendant's agreement provided for credit for time served between two stated dates he was not entitled to credit served before those dates.

Petitioner now seeks discretionary review in this Court alleging that the opinion Third District's opinion in <u>Joyner</u> is in express and direct conflict with <u>Davis v. State</u>, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981), <u>Reed v. State</u>, 810 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), <u>Silverstein v. State</u>, 654 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), and <u>Van</u> Ellis v. State, 455 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the Third District Court is not in express and direct conflict with any decisions of this Court or any of the district courts of appeal on the same question of law. Accordingly, this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction to review the lower court's decision.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH ANY DECISIONS OF THIS COURT OR ANY OF THE DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

This Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this matter. Article V, § 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), provide that the discretionary jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court may be sought to review a decision of a District Court of Appeal which expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another District Court of Appeal or of the Florida Supreme Court on the same question of law. Decisions are considered to be in express and direct conflict when the conflict appears within the four corners of the majority decisions. Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986), Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980).

Here, Petitioner argues that the Third District's opinion in <u>Joyner</u> is in express and direct conflict with <u>Davis v. State</u>, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981), <u>Reed v. State</u>, 810 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), <u>Silverstein v. State</u>, 654 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), and <u>Van Ellis v. State</u>, 455 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Petitioner further argues that as opinion below cited to <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 974 So. 2d 1152 (Fla. 3d DCA), which is stayed pending disposition of Rivera v.

State, 954 So. 2d 1216 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007), review granted 968 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 2007), there is prima facie evidence of an express conflict of decisions.

First, Petitioner is misconstruing <u>Jollie v. State</u>, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981).

<u>Jollie</u> concerned whether this Court had jurisdiction to review unelaborated per curiam affirmance ("PCA") that cite to another decision of a district court. There, this Court found that

a district court of appeal **per curiam opinion** which cites as controlling authority a decision that is either pending review in or has been reversed by this Court continues to constitute prima facie express conflict and allows this Court to exercise its jurisdiction.

Jollie v. State, 405 So. 2d 418, 420 (Fla. 1981)(emphasis added). However, the opinion below is not an unelaborated per curiam opinion. Instead, it provides a basis upon which it can be distinguished from the other opinions cited by the Appellant.

Respondent would also note that the matter under review in <u>Rivera</u> is not the same issue as the present case. The issue in <u>Rivera</u>, is that "[t]he defendant's claim for additional credit for time served is inconsistent with the terms of the plea agreement on the record." <u>Rivera</u>, 954 So.2d at 1217. The Third District explained, citing <u>Fulcher v. State</u>, 875 So.2d 647 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004), that "to grant the requested additional credit here would reach an absurd result by undoing the

amounts of time the defendant specifically agreed to serve." Rivera, 954 So.2d at 1218. The instant opinion is not based on a claim that is "inconsistent with the terms of the plea agreement" or "would reach an absurd result." In fact, the instant opinion is based upon credit for time served that is entirely consistent with the written plea agreement and the plea colloquy. As such, Petitioner's claim of a prima facie case of express conflict fails.

Petitioner's allegation that the district court's decision below expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal is without merit. In <u>Davis v State</u>, 968 So. 2d 1051, 1052 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007), the Fifth District considered whether a plea agreement statement providing that "credit for time served as 7/31/2006 is 1,531 days" waives entitlement to additional days of jail credit. The Fifth District found that the statement was not conclusive evidence that the defendant knowingly and voluntarily waived jail credit to which he would otherwise be entitled to. The Fifth District remanded the case to the trial court with instructions to either grant the motion or attach portions of the record conclusively refuting the inmate's claim.

Here, the signed agreement on credit for time served clearly states that the Defendant understands and agrees that he will be receiving credit for time served from November 29, 2006 to February 15, 2007. In addition to being factually

distinguishable, the holding in <u>Davis</u> is likewise distinguishable from the instant case. The Fifth District held that waiver could not be shown "merely by a defendant's stipulation to a certain amount of credit, absent evidence that the defendant knew of his entitlement to additional jail credit and voluntarily relinquished that right." <u>Davis</u>, 968 So.2d at 1053. The Third District held "that a provision in a plea agreement that the defendant is to be awarded credit for time served from a specific date effectively waives any claim to credit for time served before that date." Despite Petitioner's urging otherwise, these two holdings are not in express or direct conflict. Davis goes to "a certain amount of credit" -e.g., a number of days and the Third District's opinion speaks to a written plea agreement for credit for time served between specific dates.

Petitioner also seeks to establish a conflict between the instant opinion and Silverstein v. State, 654 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). As with Davis, Silverstein is factually distinguishable inasmuch as it allowed a certain number of days of credit for time served – 127 days – whereas the Third District's opinion allowed for credit for time served from a date certain. Furthermore, the holding in Silverstein is that where the waiver of credit is not shown on the record, it will not be presumed. Silverstein, 654 So.2d at 1041. In the instant case, the waiver was shown in the agreement in writing. As such, no express or direct conflict exists

between the opinion under review and the opinion in Silverstein.

Next, Petitioner seeks to establish conflict between the instant opinion and Reed v. State, 810 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). In Reed the defendant's motion alleged that she was incarcerated in county jail from November 4, 1999, to October 16, 2000; that she was therefore entitled to 357 days' jail credit toward her prison sentence; and that the trial court had awarded her only 251 days' credit. Id. Her motion did not allege that the court records reflected that she was entitled to the jail credit she was seeking, and she did not attach any jail or court records reflecting that she served the claimed amount of time in jail. Id. The trial court asserted that defendant had executed a plea agreement which stipulated to jail credit of 251 days. Id. However, the only attachment to the trial court's order was a portion of the judgment and sentence which stated that defendant would be allowed a total of 251 days' jail credit followed by the phrase, "stipulated credit." Id.

The district court found the motion facially insufficient. In dicta, the district court noted that had the motion been facially sufficient, reversal would have been compelled order because the attachments to the order did not refute Reed's claim.

Id. Without an attached signed plea agreement or the transcript of the plea colloquy showing that Reed had stipulated to the jail credit, the trial court's order and its attachments are insufficient to refute Reed's claim to additional jail credit. Id.

However, here, the trial court attached the district court found that the attached plea agreement showed that the Petitioner was only being credited for time served between two specific dates. Moreover, dicta can not be the basis to establish express and direct conflict.

In Van Ellis v. State, 455 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), the defendant was adjudged guilty of unarmed robbery and was sentenced to serve 364 days in jail to be followed by three years probation. Id. Defendant subsequently pled guilty to a parole violation and was sentenced to serve further jail time. In addition, appellant's probationary period was extended. Id. Defendant was charged with violating his parole a second time. On the second violation, the trial court revoked his probation, adjudicated him guilty of unarmed robbery, and sentenced him to six years in prison with credit for 139 days previously served. Id. The district court found that were not the same as in Epler v. Judges of Thirteenth J.C., Hillsborough Cty., 308 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975), where pursuant to a plea bargain, the defendant voluntarily and specifically relinquished his right to be credited for time served prior to his sentencing. Id. at 1066. The district court held that under those particular circumstances, the defendant waived his right to credit for time served and could not raise that issue on appeal. Id. at 1066. The court remanded the matter for the trial court to determine the jail time appellant served and to give him

credit therefore.

<u>Van Ellis</u> is distinguishable from the case at bar. Here, the Third District found that as the defendant had waived entitlement to additional credit as he entered an agreement which provides credit for time served between two specific dates. <u>Van Ellis</u> contained no such agreement.

CONCLUSION

On the basis of the foregoing, this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction to review the lower court's decision.